
 

 
 

 
        

           Tuesday, April 21, 2020 – 6:00 pm 

    Meeting by Online Video with Public Access 

      Page 1 of 2 

 

 

Call to Order 

 

Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Presentation of Annual Audit by Bonadio & Co. 

 

Minutes 

Public Comment 

Approval of Minutes of Meeting of April 7, 2020  

 

Financial Matters 

Public Comment 

Transfers 

Vouchers 

Surplus Inventory 

 

Personnel Matters 

            Public Comment 

            Hiring Resolution 

 

Other Business 

 

Public Comment 

 

Adjournment 

 

 

  

   

SUPERVISOR 

William A. Smith, Jr. 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 

Kate Bohne Munzinger, Deputy 

Supervisor 

Kevin Beckford 

Cathy Koshykar  

Stephanie Townsend 

TOWN BOARD AGENDA 

Instructions for viewing meeting on attached page 2 



Town Board Agenda 

April 21, 2020 

Page 2 of 2 
 

How to view the meeting: 

 

1.  Zoom 

 In your web browser, go to 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89806930119?pwd=bHN3Y0c3SjdTQlBRYUc0NmdTcGtpZz09  

You will be connected to the meeting. 

 

 Alternatively, download the Zoom app on your device well in advance of the meeting.  You do 

not have to sign up for a Zoom account.  Enter the Meeting ID and password.  The Meeting ID is 

898 0693 0119.  The password is 586901. 

 

2.  Telephone 

 You can access the meeting by phone.  Use any of the numbers below, then enter the meeting ID 

and password when prompted. The Meeting ID is 898 0693 0119.  No password is necessary. 

 

(929) 205-6099 

(312) 626-6799 

(253) 215-8782 

(301) 715-8592 

(346) 248-7799 

(669) 900-6833  

3.  Public Comments 

 Any Pittsford resident can submit a comment for the meeting by emailing it 

to comments@townofpittsford.org any time before 2:30pm on the date of the meeting.   

 

 Comments must be accompanied by your name and street address.  Comments from Pittsford 

residents will be read aloud by the Town Clerk.  Your address will not be read aloud at the 

meeting. 

 

 To comment on anything that takes place at the meeting, use the email address prior to 2:30pm 

on the next meeting date, May 5.  The Clerk will read such comments from residents aloud at 

that meeting. 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89806930119?pwd=bHN3Y0c3SjdTQlBRYUc0NmdTcGtpZz09
mailto:comments@townofpittsford.org


April 21, 2020

Town of Pittsford, 
Monroe County, New York

Town Board Meeting



22

Auditor’s Responsibility
• Form opinions as to whether the financial 

statements have been presented fairly, in all 
material respects, in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States.

• Consider internal control over financial reporting as 
a basis for designing audit procedures, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on internal 
control.

• Communicate significant matters related to the 
financial statement audit to the Town Board.

• An audit does not relieve management or the 
Town Board of their responsibilities with regard 
to governance and oversight.

• Our audit opinions on the financial statements 
are unmodified.



33

Financial Highlights
Government-wide net position consisted 
of the following:

Net investment in capital assets $ 46,104,404
Restricted net position 16,794,161
Unrestricted net position (14,786,949)
Total $ 48,111,616

Percentages of revenues
• General revenues, which include mortgage tax, 

non-property tax, and real property tax accounted for 
approximately $16,879,000 or 83% of all revenues.  

• Program specific revenues, including charges for 
services and capital grants, accounted for $3,522,681 or 
17% of total revenues.



4

Financial Highlights 
(Continued) 
Total governmental funds reported 
an ending fund balance of:

Nonspendable $ 223,950

Restricted 16,794,161

Assigned 1,614,283

Unassigned 4,515,914

Total $ 23,148,308



5

Financial Highlights 
(Continued) 
General Fund Highlights
• Total Fund Balance of $10,306,408 increased from 2018 

approximately $143,000, or about 1%

• Revenues of $9,952,822 increased from 2018 
approximately $582,000, or 6.2%

• Expenditures of $7,722,947 increased from 2018 
approximately $73,000 or less than 1%

• Significant transfers out of $2.5 million to fund capital 
projects and debt service payments

• Prior period adjustment of $16,000 related to the 
implementation of GASB84 – Fiduciary Activities



6



7

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

 2019 2018 2017

Tax items 16,159$       15,988$        15,672$       
Other revenues              2,856              2,494              2,260 
Government aid 1,423            1,677             1,598            

Total revenues 20,438          20,159          19,530          

Current expenditures 18,734          25,278          19,850          
Debt service 2,297            2,183             1,596            

Total expenditures 21,031          27,461          21,446          

DEFICIENCY OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES (593)              (7,302)           (1,916)           

Operating transfers - in 2,680            2,804             3,954            
Proceeds from the issuance of debt -                     465                8,800            
Operating transfers - out (2,680)           (2,804)           (3,954)           

-                     465                8,800            

(593)              (6,837)           6,884            

18                  -                      -                     

23,723          30,560          23,676          

23,148$       23,723$        30,560$       

(000's omitted)

REVENUES:

FUND BALANCE - end of year

EXPENDITURES:

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

FUND BALANCE - beginning of year

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT



8

Future Pronouncements

Leases (GASB87)
 Effective for 12/31/20 **
Change in how leases are recorded
May require the recognition of 

assets/liabilities to  reflect the right to 
use an underlying asset and the 
accompanying obligation to pay for that 
use
 Elimination of operating or capital lease 

concept



Thank You!



Minutes of the Town Board for April 7, 2020 
 

1 
 

DRAFT 
TOWN OF PITTSFORD 

TOWN BOARD 
APRIL 7, 2020 

 
 
 
Proceedings of a regular meeting of the Pittsford Town Board held on Tuesday, April 7, 2020 at 6:00 P.M. local 
time.  The meeting took place with Board members participating remotely using Zoom. 
 
PRESENT: Supervisor William A. Smith, Jr.; Councilmembers Kevin Beckford, Cathy Koshykar, 

Katherine B. Munzinger and Stephanie M. Townsend. 
 
ABSENT:  None. 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Staff Members:  Paul J. Schenkel, Commissioner of Public Works; Cheryl Fleming, 

Personnel Director; Greg Duane, Finance Director; Robert Koegel, Town Attorney; and 
Linda M. Dillon, Town Clerk. 

 
ATTENDANCE: There were no members of the public in attendance.   
 
Supervisor Smith called the Town Board meeting to order at 6:00 P.M. and led members in the Pledge of 
Allegiance.  The Town Clerk called the roll and noted all Town Board members present.   
 

 
SUPERVISOR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

1. Social Distancing:  Supervisor Smith noted that our Town Parks and Trails remain open, but reminded 
the public of the importance in maintaining physical distance while visiting or walking the trails.  Town 
staff will be monitoring these areas to ensure the safety of our public. 

2. End of May Events:  It is undecided at this time whether the end of May events, the Paddle and Pour 
Festival and the Memorial Day Parade, will proceed or be canceled.   

3. Public Hearing on Local Law No. 3 of 2020 postponed:  The Public Hearing on Local Law 3 of 2020 – 
Amending Chapter 8 of the Town of Pittsford Municipal Code Entitled “Computer System Security Breach 
Notification Policy” originally scheduled for public hearing for April 21, 2020, will be postponed until a 
future date wherein the public will be able to attend. 

     

 
MINUTES 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
No public comments were offered regarding the Minutes of the March 17 Town Board meeting.   

 
MINUTES OF THE MARCH 17, 2020 MEETING APPROVED 
A Resolution to approve the Minutes of the March 17, 2020 meeting was offered by Supervisor Smith,  seconded 
by Councilmember Townsend, and voted on by members as follows:  Ayes:  Beckford, Koshykar, Munzinger, 
Townsend and Smith.  Nays: None. 
 
The Resolution was declared carried as follows: 
RESOLVED, that the Meeting Minutes of the March 17, 2020 are approved. 

 
 
 
 
 



Minutes of the Town Board for April 7, 2020 
 

2 
 

FINANCIAL MATTERS 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
No public comments were offered regarding any Agenda item under Financial Matters. 
 

BUDGET TRANSFERS APPROVED 
Following an inquiry and confirmation by the Finance Director that the floor scrubber was being purchased for use 
in the Spiegel Center, a Resolution to approve the budget transfers was offered by Deputy Supervisor Munzinger, 
seconded by Councilmember Beckford, and voted on by members as follows:  Ayes:  Beckford, Koshykar, 
Munzinger, Townsend and Smith.  Nays:  none.   
 
The Resolution was declared carried as follows: 
RESOLVED, that $42,400 be transferred from 1.9950.9000.1.1 (WT – Transfer to Capital) to 1.2620.2007.10.3 
(Bldg. Capital Improvements – Library) to paint and carpet the Library 2nd floor, and tile the staff lounge per the 
FY2020 budget; and be it further 
 
RESOLVED, that $6,400.00 be transferred from 1.9950.9000.1.1 (WT – Transfer to Capital) to 1.2620.2000.10.2 
(Bldg. Capital – SCC) to purchase a floor scrubber per the FY2020 budget. 
 
 

PERSONNEL MATTERS 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
No public comments were offered regarding any Agenda item under Personnel Matters. 
 
 

HIRING AND STATUS CHANGE RECOMMENDATIONS APPROVED 
Supervisor Smith moved the following resolutions: 
 
RESOLVED, that the Town Board approves the recommended re-hires for the following employees: 
 

Name    Dept       Position     Rate   Date of Hire 

Peter Ciarico  Parks  Seasonal Gardener (Re-hire) $15.00  04/20/2020 

John Keegan  Parks  Seasonal Laborer (Re-hire)  $13.75  04/20/2020 

Brett Wilby  Parks  Seasonal Laborer (Re-hire)  $14.25  04/20/2020 

 

And be it further 

RESOLVED, that the Town Board approves the recommended status and salary changes for the 

following employee: 

 

Name   Position  Reason for Change      Rate         Effective Date 

Allyson Bilow  Office Clerk IV Perm CS Appointment    15.39 03/20/2020 
 
The motion was seconded by Deputy Supervisor Munzinger, and voted on as follows:  Ayes:  Beckford, Koshykar, 
Munzinger, Townsend and Smith.  Nays: none. 
 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 
STEPPED-UP ROAD WORK 
Supervisor Smith indicated that despite the current COVID-19 situation, the Town can’t neglect necessary 
services and items of business that can continue.  One of these is road and residential street repaving and repair.  
In consultation with the Commissioner of Public Works, he has stepped up this work in light of the substantially 
lower volume of traffic at present and because the decrease in the price of petroleum means that the Town can 
take advantage of the lower price of asphalt.  The additional and stepped-up work has already begun.  The 



Minutes of the Town Board for April 7, 2020 
 

3 
 

Highway Department has already completed repairs to the parking lots behind the Library and Town Hall and will 
proceed with resurfacing.  It will proceed with other additional road repaving as the weather permits.  
Councilmember Townsend asked the Commissioner of Public Works to provide the Board with the schedule of 
roadwork for this year.   
 
SOCIAL DISTANCING AT TOWN PARKS 
Supervisor Smith reported that he has recently designated several staff members to be Park Wardens, to patrol 
our parks and disburse any groups or gatherings in violation of the Governor’s Executive Orders.  This was 
because of persistent violations of the physical distancing requirements in our Parks in recent weeks.  The 
Supervisor encouraged everyone to adhere to the Governor’s Executive Orders for social distancing.  He 
underscored the seriousness of the situation, noting that the County has ordered refrigerated trucks to serve as 
temporary morgues, to be prepared if it needs them. Social distancing must be taken seriously. He noted that the 
Town will be posting signs at the entrance to Town trails reminding people to observe the physical distancing 
requirements which apply to Town trails as well as everywhere else.    
 
UPDATE ON DRAFT OF RE-ZONING 
Councilmember Townsend asked about the status of work by the working group formed to draft revisions to the 
zoning code for the area currently subject to moratorium.  She wants the Town Board to be able to review the 
draft before it is formally proposed for public hearing.  Councilmember Beckford, a member of the working group 
along with Deputy Supervisor Munzinger, reported that there have been several meetings and the most recent 
draft submitted to the committee by Doug DeRue looked very good.  Town Attorney Robert Koegel reported that 
all the comments offered throughout the meetings have been taken into account.  He will be preparing the 
proposed draft for review by the Town Board. Supervisor Smith noted that it had been his expectation from the 
beginning that the draft to come out of the working group would go to Town Board members for review before a 
final draft was proposed for Public Hearing and adoption.    

 
COMMUNITY CHOICE AGGREGATION (CCA) UPDATE 
Supervisor Smith reported that Pittsford and Irondequoit have signed the Agreement with Joule Assets and 
Roctricity to serve as CCA Administrator.  Town Attorney Koegel reported that he was notified today that Brighton 
has now also signed the agreement.  Joule has sent the attorneys for all three towns a draft form of contract with 
an electricity supplier.  This would be used as the contract with whatever electricity supplier is ultimately selected 
by competitive bid.  Attorneys for the three towns will discuss it in an upcoming conference call. Councilmember 
Koshykar noted the need to have a way to hold the two public meetings on CCA required before the Towns can 
move forward. The Board discussed ways of holding online meetings for this purpose.  Supervisor Smith indicated 
that we will consult with Roctricity to arrange the meetings.  Councilmember Beckford asked how the Pittsford and 
Irondequoit agreements with Joule/Roctricity may differ from the version signed by Brighton.  Attorney Koegel 
responded that Brighton did not include Roctricity as a party to its agreement.  This, he continued, will not affect 
Pittsford’s agreement at all.  Supervisor Smith noted that, with Pittsford’s agreement with Joule/Roctricity now in 
place, the description of the rights and duties of the parties to it are also in place.  They can’t be changed by a 
contract entered into by another town.    
 
STATUS OF TOWN, STAFF AND SERVICES DUE TO CORONAVIRUS 
Councilmember Koshykar inquired about the Town staff and how they are doing through this current situation.  
Supervisor Smith indicated that essential Town services are moving forward and staff is being monitored on a 
day-to-day basis.  He indicated that, under the terms of the Board’s approval at the previous meeting for a 
pandemic accrual bank, he has extended the bank to cover an additional two weeks, making it four weeks 
altogether. Employees working remotely are reporting in. Councilmember Beckford asked about what services we 
may not be able to provide at this time.  Supervisor Smith began by noting that the Clerk’s office is not issuing 
Marriage Licenses at this time. Commissioner Schenkel indicated that the building department has suspended all 
indoor inspections and is doing essential work inspections as needed. Town Clerk Dillon indicated that the County 
had extended the due date for paying Town and County taxes until April 30, but there has been no decision at this 
point on any extension beyond April.  The County has reduced to 3% (as opposed to 4.5%) the interest on the 4th 
tax installment payment.  The Town has so notified by mail those residents using the installment plan.  Supervisor 
Smith confirmed that the Town will see reduced sales tax revenue this year, as well as reduced mortgage tax 
revenue and no revenue from Recreation programs that have been cancelled.  
 



Minutes of the Town Board for April 7, 2020 
 

4 
 

Supervisor Smith added that since the beginning of this pandemic, a significant amount of time has been devoted 
to efforts to treat our employees well and fairly throughout this difficult time.  We initiated this by providing the 
pandemic accrual time for four weeks.  The Town Administration is researching the new government programs 
coming available to be able to take advantage of any benefits that can benefit our Town employees.   
 
In response to an inquiry from Councilmember Koshykar the Supervisor confirmed that the staff members acting 
as Park Wardens have been given appropriate instruction for their own safety and the safety of others in 
performing their duties in all respects, including observation of COVID-19 protocols.  They have been instructed to 
monitor and enforce from their vehicles and should contact the Sheriff or our Code Enforcement staff to disperse 
groups if a verbal warning to disperse, from a distance, is ignored.   
 
Councilmember Munzinger thanked all essential staff who have been working so hard during this pandemic.  The 
Supervisor and all the Board members echoed these sentiments as well. 
 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
No public comments were offered regarding any general matters. 
 
 
As there was no further business, the Supervisor adjourned the meeting at 6:30 P.M. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Linda M. Dillon 
Town Clerk 



4/17/20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Budget Transfers & Amendment 
 

 
 

Be it resolved that the following budget transfers are approved retroactively to March 
30, 2020: 
 
That $ 1,500.00 be transferred from 1.1990.4000.1.1 (WT – Contingency) to 1.1680.4404.3.2 
(IT - consultants) to pay for public access closed captioning. 















































RESOLUTION 
To: Town Board 

From: Greg Duane 

Date: April 15, 2020 

Regarding: Surplus Inventory 

For Meeting On: April 21, 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attached is a list of surplus inventory for the Town Board to declare surplus in order for it to be 

removed from the Town’s inventory.  Items, which can be sold, will be sent to auction and items 

that are broken will be disposed of in a proper manner. 

 

 

 

Be it resolved, that the attached list of equipment be declared surplus/junk and be 

removed from the Town’s inventory. 

 
Asset # Year Description Department  Cost  Disposition 

      
16974 2010 Tandem Roller Hwy $50,793.93 Trade-In 

17310 2012 6 Wheel Dump Truck Hwy $115,048.00 Auction 

17311 2012 Plow Hwy $10,000.00 Auction 

17312 2012 Wing Plow Hwy $10,000.00 Auction 

18035 2015 Excavator Hwy $87,937.00 Auction 

18417 2018 Skid-Steer Loader Hwy $5,079.00 Auction 

      

      

    $278,857.93  

      

 
 



























































MEMORANDUM 
To: Pittsford Town Board 

From: Cheryl Fleming, Personnel Director 

Date: April 16, 2020 

Regarding: Recommendations for Hiring/Personnel Adjustments 
 

For Meeting On: April 21, 2020 

 

1. The following employee(s) are recommended as a new hire based on the recommendation of 

the Functional Coordinator(s) for these areas:  
 

Name    Dept       Position     Rate   Date of Hire 

Danielle Brink  Parks  Seasonal Laborer (rehire)  $13.75  04/20/2020 

Grant Turner  Parks  Seasonal Laborer    $13.00  04/22/2020 

      

All the proper reviews and background checks have been completed for these candidate(s) and 

have received appropriate sign off by the Town Board representative.  
 

Name    Dept       Position     Rate   Date of Hire 

Danielle Brink  Parks  Seasonal Laborer (rehire)  $13.75  04/20/2020 

Grant Turner  Parks  Seasonal Laborer    $13.00  04/22/2020 
 
In the event the Town Board determines that the proposed action should be taken, I move that the subject 
employees be approved for the date of hire as indicated.   
 

 

2. The following employee(s) are recommended for a status change and/or salary change due to 

a change in status. 

 

Name         Position    Reason for Change Rate        Effective Date 

Carrie Halstead Park Warden–Days      Added Position  $13.50     04/07/2020 

Carrie Halstead Park Warden–Nights   Added Position  $14.00     04/19/2020 

Robyn Avery  Sr. Library Clerk–PT    Added Position  $19.46      05/04/2020 

    

Should the Board approve the above recommendations and personnel adjustments, the following 

resolution is being proposed, RESOLVED, that the Town Board approves the status and salary 

changes for the following employee(s): 

 

Name         Position   Reason for Change Rate          Effective Date 

Carrie Halstead Park Warden–Days     Added Position  $13.50     04/07/2020 

Carrie Halstead Park Warden–Nights  Added Position  $14.00     04/19/2020 

Robyn Avery  Sr. Library Clerk–PT   Added Position  $19.46      05/04/2020 

 
In the event the Town Board determines that the proposed action should be taken, I move that the subject 
employees be approved for the date of status change as indicated. 

 

 

 



MEMORANDUM 
To: Town Board Members 

From: Robert B. Koegel 

Date: April 21, 2020 

Regarding: Local Law #3 of 2020 -  Amending RRAA Zoning District  

                   and pertinent Subdivision Regulations 
 

For Meeting On: April 21, 2020 

 

    
Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 As you know, the Comprehensive Plan Update recently adopted by the Town Board 
recommends that the Town Board consider and adopt appropriate zoning amendments which 
will promote cluster-style residential development, protect open space, and accommodate 
desirable housing density, particularly in the RRAA Rural Residential District, which is scattered 
across parts of southern Pittsford north of the Thruway. 

 Submitted herewith are proposed amendments to the Town’s RRAA zoning district 
provisions and its subdivision regulations, including the Town’s site capacity calculation 
worksheet, which are designed to achieve these goals.  In a nutshell, the proposed revisions will 
increase the amount of open space and decrease the number of houses in any given residential 
subdivision project within the RRAA district, so as to protect the overall character of the Town. 

 Should the Town Board wish to set a public hearing on this proposed local law, it may 
use the following resolution:  

 

 

RESOLUTION 
 

I move that a public hearing be set for May 26, 2020 at 6:00 pm, local time, at the Pittsford 
Town Hall, or by electronic conference or meeting as permitted by law, to consider Proposed 
Local Law #3 of 2020; Amending Article VIII, entitled “RRAA Rural Residential Zoning”, of 
Chapter 185 of the Town Code, and Chapter 175, entitled “Subdivision of Land,” of the Town 
Code, in accordance with the terms of the formal resolution submitted herewith. 

 



 

 

1 

 

 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE 

 

TOWN BOARD OF THE 

 

TOWN OF PITTSFORD 

 

NEW YORK 

 

AS FOLLOWS: 

 

LOCAL LAW NO. 3 OF 2020: 

THE ADOPTION OF PROPOSED LOCAL LAW NO. 3 of 2020: 

AMENDING THE TOWN OF PITTSFORD MUNICIPAL CODE, BY 

AMENDING CHAPTER 185 “ZONING,” ARTICLE VIII, THE “RRAA 

RURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT”; AND AMENDING CHAPTER 175 

“SUBDIVISION OF LAND,” INCLUDING THE REVISING AND 

ADOPTING OF THE “SITE CAPACITY CALCULATION WORKSHEET” 

TO BE APPENDED THERETO  

 
Sec. 1  Title 

This Local Law shall be known as “Local Law No. 3 of 2020: Amending the Town of 

Pittsford Municipal Code, by amending the Town of Pittsford Municipal Code, by amending 

Chapter 185 ‘Zoning,’ Article VIII, the ‘RRAA Rural Residential District,’; and amending 

Chapter 175 ‘Subdivision of Land,’ including the revising and adopting of the ‘Site Capacity 

Calculation Worksheet’ to be appended thereto.” 

 

Sec. 2  Amendment #1 to Existing Law   

The Pittsford Town Code, Chapter 185 “Zoning,” Article VIII, “RRAA Rural Residential 

District,”  shall be amended to revise §§ 185-28 through 185-33 to read, as follows: 

§ 185-28  Permitted uses.  

 

The following uses are permitted: 

A.  Single-family dwelling. 

B.  Agriculture. 

C.  Open space. 

D.  Accessory structures and uses, subject to §185-113. 



 

 

2 

E.  Accessory structures and/or facilities, owned and maintained by a Homeowners Association, 

and located on Homeowner Association lands. Such amenities are subject review and 

approval by the Planning Board as part of a Subdivision application process or Site Plan 

application. 

 

 

§185-28.1 Special permit uses. 

 

The following uses may be permitted pursuant to a special permit issued by the Planning Board: 

A.  Place of worship, subject to §185-124. 

B.  Golf course. 

C.  School, subject to §185-133. 

§ 185-29  Definitions.  

For purposes of this article, the following term shall have the meaning indicated:   

PARCEL  -- Any tax parcel, contiguous tax parcels under single ownership or contiguous tax 

parcels proposed to be developed as a unit. For the purpose of this section, each tax parcel shall 

be identified by the Tax Map of the Town of Pittsford dated January 13, 1986, and single 

ownership shall be determined by deed filed as of January 13, 1986. It is the express intent of 

this article that no parcel as defined herein may be changed or reconfigured after January 13, 

1986, for the purposes of applying or avoiding the restrictions of this article.    

§ 185-30  Development of less than 10 acres.  

A parcel, as defined herein, consisting of less than 10 acres may be developed at a density of 1.0 

residential dwelling units per acre. The following lot and bulk requirements shall apply: 

A.  Each lot shall have a minimum area of 32,000 square feet, except that a parcel, as defined 

herein, which is less than 32,000 but larger than 16,000 may be developed with one dwelling 

unit.  

B. Each lot shall have a lot width of 125 feet.   

C. Front setbacks shall be 70 feet.   

D. Side setbacks shall be 20 feet.   

E. Rear setbacks shall be 10 feet.   

F. Minimum floor space shall be 1,800 square feet.  

G.  Lot coverage. All structures and all impervious surfaces shall not occupy in the aggregate 

more than 33% of the area of the parcel or parcels on which such building, structures and 

impervious surfaces are to be located. 

 § 185-31  Development of 10 acres or more.  

A parcel consisting of 10 acres or more may be developed at a density of one residential 

dwelling unit per 10 acres. In lieu of development at said density, such parcel may be developed 

at a density of 1.0 residential dwelling units per acre, provided that the following conditions and 

limitations are met:   

A. Application of Town Law § 278. All development applications shall be processed by the 

Planning Board pursuant to the provisions of § 278 of the Town Law. As part of that process, 



 

 

3 

the Planning Board shall, at a minimum, apply the limitations and conditions of this article. 

[Amended 10-3-1995 by L.L. No. 10-1995]   

B. Development site. Residential dwelling units shall be developed on a maximum of 35% of 

the Base Site Area, as defined in § 175-5, within the parcel.   

C. Site capacity. The maximum allowable dwelling units that may be built on said development 

site shall be determined by the site capacity calculation worksheet, as required by the Town’s 

Subdivision Regulations.   

D. Permanent rural conservation site. A minimum of 65% of the Base Site Area within the 

parcel shall be permanently designated as rural conservation and shall be so designated on 

the Official Zoning Map.   

(1) The selection of land within a parcel to be designated as rural conservation shall be 

made by the applicant and subject to the approval of the Planning Board based on the 

following criteria:    

(a) Preservation of existing farms or the “Greenprint for Pittsford’s Future,” mapped in 

1996.    

(b) Appropriateness of land for agricultural use.    

(c) Appropriateness of land for recreational use.    

(d) Preservation of environmentally sensitive lands.    

(e) Inappropriateness of land for development.    

(f) Location and availability of roads, utilities and other services.    

(g) Location of other rural conservation land.    

(h) Location of historic or significant properties and/or other developments. 

(i)  Establishment of Corridor Buffer(s).    

(2) Rural conservation lands may be held in private ownership or, if proposed for public 

ownership, shall be dedicated to the Town of Pittsford.   

(3) Land designated as rural conservation shall be limited to the following uses:    

(a) Agriculture, to include the growing of crops and accessory agricultural uses. No 

livestock farming shall be permitted, but nothing contained herein shall prevent the 

keeping of horses in privately owned rural conservation land in accordance with 

§ 185-116 of this chapter, including pasturage, but no structures other than fences as 

permitted by this chapter may be erected thereon.    

(b) Dedicated park and recreation area.    

(c) Open space.         

§ 185-32  Rural conservation sites in private ownership.   

A. Where rural conservation sites result from the application of RRAA zoning requirements, or 

are otherwise existing, and which are not dedicated to the Town, they shall be described in a 

Conservation Easement executed by the owner and delivered to the Town. The Department 

of Public Works may not grant final approval to any development plans until the 

Conservation Easement is received by the Town.   

B. The Conservation Easement shall describe the rural conservation site in metes and bounds 

and shall include the statement: "This tract or parcel of land is a rural conservation site 

subject to the provisions of the Town of Pittsford Zoning Law substantially restricting its 

use." 

   

§185-33  Maximum height restrictions. 



 

 

4 

 

The maximum permitted height of any structure is 40 feet, except that chimneys attached to such 

structure may extend five feet above the highest point of the structure.  

 

Sec. 3         Amendment #2 to Existing Law   

The Pittsford Town Code, Chapter 175 “Subdivision of Land,” shall be amended to 

revise §§ 175-1 through 175-33 to read, as follows:  

 

ARTICLE I 

General Provisions 

§ 175-1. Authority. 

These Regulations, which shall be known as, and which may be cited as, the "Town of Pittsford 

Subdivision Regulations" have been adopted by the Town Board, pursuant to §271 of the Town 

Law. 

§ 175-2. Purpose. 

A. These Regulations for the subdivision of land are promulgated to provide for the orderly 

growth and coordinated development of the Town and to assure the comfort, convenience, 

safety, health and welfare of its citizens. 

B. The review and approval procedures contained herein are designed to safeguard the community 

and assure that the requirements and standards for land subdivision contained herein are 

fulfilled and that the public’s health, safety and welfare are protected. 

C. To achieve these purposes the approval of such subdivisions shall be based on the following 

considerations: 

(1) Conformance with the various parts of the Town’s Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Law; 

(2) Recognition of a desirable relationship to the general land form, its topographic and 

geologic character, to natural drainage, to the recharge of groundwater and to floodplain, 

environmental and ecological concerns; 

(3) Recognition of desirable standards of subdivision design for pedestrian and vehicular 

traffic, surface water runoff, utility services and building sites for the land use 

contemplated; 

(4) Encouragement of flexible subdivision design to promote the planning objectives of the 

Town’s Comprehensive Plan, to realize economies of development and maintenance and to 

provide for a variety of housing types; 

(5) Provision for such facilities as are desirable adjuncts to the contemplated use, such as parks, 

recreation areas, school sites, fire stations, public accesses, sidewalks and off-street 

parking; and 

(6) Preservation and protection of such natural resources and assets as lakes, ponds, streams, 

steep slopes, prime agricultural soils, flora, fauna, general scenic beauty and historic 

resources of the Town. 



 

 

5 

§ 175-3. Applicability. 

A. These Regulations shall govern the subdivision of land within the Town and no person shall 

subdivide land in the Town without first complying with these Regulations and obtaining 

approval of the Final Plat for the proposed subdivision as evidenced by the endorsement of 

such plat and recording of the endorsed Final Plat in the Office of the Monroe County Clerk. 

B. Whenever any subdivision of land is proposed, before any permit for the erection of a 

permanent building in such proposed subdivision shall be granted, and before any subdivision 

plat may be filed in the office of the Monroe County Clerk, the subdivider shall apply for and 

secure approval of such proposed subdivision in accordance with the provisions of these 

Regulations and other applicable provisions of law. 

ARTICLE II 

Terminology 

§ 175-4. Language Construction. 

A. For the purpose of these Regulations, the following construction of language shall apply: 

(1) Words used in the present tense include the future tense; 

(2) Words used in the singular include the plural, and words used in the plural include the 

singular; 

(3) The word "shall" is always mandatory; 

(4) The words "used" or "occupied" as applied to any land or building shall be construed to 

include the works "intended, arranged or designed to be used or occupied"; 

(5) Any reference to a residence or residential district shall be interpreted to mean any zoning 

district with the word "residential" in its title and to a Cluster Development; and 

(6) A "building" or "structure" includes any part thereof. 

§ 175-5. Definitions. 

For the purposes, of these Regulations the following words or terms are defined as follows: 

APPLICANT -- A person who submits an application to the Planning Board for the approval of 

a plat or site plan for a proposed development of land under these Regulations, including a 

person duly authorized to represent the applicant. 

APPLICATION -- A duly submitted application to the Planning Board of a Plan or Plat of a 

proposed subdivision, containing, at a minimum, the application form, maps, drawing or 

drawings, documentation, fees required herein for such plat or site plan. 

BASE SITE AREA – The total acreage of any given gross site subject to an Application, 

minus the total acreage of all right-of-way(s) within the gross site. 

BENCH MARK -- A mark made in a durable object of known position and elevation and used 

as a reference point. Elevations shall be based on Town Datum (United States Geological 

Survey). 

BIKEWAY -- A way designed to be used principally or exclusively by a bicycle or similar un-

motorized vehicle. 



 

 

6 

CERTIFIED BY -- Bearing a certification of endorsement signed by a majority of the members 

of the Planning Board or a duly authorized Officer of the Planning Board.  

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN -- The Comprehensive Plan latest edition adopted by the Town 

Board for the future growth, protection and development of the Town affording adequate 

facilities for housing, transportation, convenience, public health, safety and general welfare of 

its population. 

CONCEPT PLAN -- Plan of a proposed Major Subdivision containing all the maps, drawings, 

documentation and information required by these Regulations for a Conventional Concept Plan 

or a Cluster Development Concept Plan, prepared and submitted as a basis for discussion and 

review, and which, when approved or conditionally approved by the Planning Board shall 

become the basis for the submission of a Preliminary Plat.  

CONDITIONAL APPROVAL OF A SITE PLAN OR PLAT -- The approval of the plan or 

plat subject to the conditions set forth by the Planning Board in a resolution which becomes a 

part of the Plan or Plat. 

CORRIDOR IMPACTS - The impacts to the linear strips of land of the site adjoining the 

highway, as measured from the right-of-way of the highway perpendictorily a distance of 100 

feet on to the site.  

COUNTY ENVIRONMENTAL PLAN -- A plan for the future management of air, water and 

land resources in Monroe County prepared by the Monroe County Environmental Management 

Council pursuant to Article 47-0107 of the New York State Environmental Conservation Law, 

as it may be adopted in part or in its entirety by the Monroe County Legislature. 

CUL-DE-SAC -- A short dead-end street terminating in a vehicular turnaround area. 

DESIGNER -- A professional Civil Engineer or Land Surveyor duly licensed to practice in New 

York or a person working under the direct supervision of a licensed professional engineer or 

surveyor. 

DEVELOP -- To construct a street, install utilities, erect a house or other structure, or in any 

way to improve a lot. 

DEVELOPER -- A person who develops a subdivision under a Final Plat of a proposed 

subdivision approved pursuant to these Regulations. 

FINAL PLAT -- A plat containing all of the maps, drawings, documents and information, 

required by these Regulations for a Final Plat Application to be recorded in the Office of the 

Monroe County Clerk when approved by the Planning Board. 

FLOOD LIMITS -- The land-water boundary of a natural or man-made water course flowing at a 

frequency as shown in The Flood Insurance Study, Flood Insurance Rate Maps (“FIRMS”) or 

the Town’s Comprehensive Drainage Study. 

FLOODPLAIN(S) – Any portion of a Base Site Area within the “area of special flood hazard,” 

as defined in Chapter 95 of this Code, commonly referred to as the “one-hundred-year 

floodplain.”  Floodplain(s) includes any watercourse associated with any floodplain(s). 

FRONTAGE -- The continuous distance measured between the side lot lines at the street line or 

a right-of-way that provides vehicular access to such lot. 



 

 

7 

IMPROVEMENT SPECIFICATIONS OF THE TOWN OF PITTSFORD -- The Minimum 

Specification for development of land in the Town, which have been adopted by the Town 

Board. 

LAND DEDICATION -- A dedication of land to the Town for any public or municipal use. 

LOT -- An area of land in one (1) ownership with definite boundaries used, or available for use, 

as the site of one (1) or more buildings. 

LOT, BUILDABLE -- A lot meeting the zoning requirements of the Town on either an 

accepted existing street or a street shown on an approved final plat of a subdivision and meeting 

all requirements of the Town for the issuance of a building permit. 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE DENSITY UNITS – The product of multiplying the Net 

Buildable Site Area by the Density Factor identified in the applicable Zoning District in the 

Town Code. 

MONROE COUNTY MASTER PLAN -- A comprehensive plan for the development of 

Monroe County prepared by the Monroe County Department of Planning and adopted in part or 

in its entirety by the Monroe County Legislature. 

MONUMENT -- A permanent marker to indicate a boundary point or other point for 

measurement purposes. 

MUNICIPAL SERVICES -- See utilities, Public. 

NATURAL FEATURES MAP – A map completed and submitted by an Applicant, 

containing all of the information required by § 175-24(G) of these regulations. 

NET BUILDABLE SITE AREA – The difference in subtracting the Total Resource 

Protection Land from the Base Site Area, in acres.  The Net Building Site Area is comprised 

of lots, including structures, driveways, and appurtenances within lots, streets, and private 

roads. 

OWNER -- As applies to real estate, the person holding the ultimate fee simple title to a parcel, 

tract or lot of land as shown by the record in the Monroe County Clerk's office. 

PARCEL -- Land identified by a legal description and tax account number which is filed or 

proposed to be filed in the Monroe County Clerk's office. 

PERSON -- An individual, two (2) or more individuals, a partnership, trust or corporation, 

having common or undivided interests in a tract of land. 

PLANNING BOARD AGENT -- Town employee or consultant authorized by the Planning 

Board to review subdivisions and/or administer the Regulations. 

PRELIMINARY PLAT -- The plat of a proposed major subdivision evolving from an 

approved or conditionally approved Concept Plan and containing all of the maps, drawings, 

documents and information required by these Regulations for a Preliminary Plat and which will 

become the basis for the submission of a Final Plat application when approved or conditionally 

approved by the Planning Board. 

PRIVATE ROAD -- A right-of-way, not dedicated to the Town, as defined in §185-122 of the 

Town Code. 

PROJECT INSPECTOR -- An agent of the Town empowered to observe the progress of the 



 

 

8 

project and the compliance of the construction with the specifications and/or approved plans. 

PUBLIC ACCESS -- A way, not necessarily parallel to a street, designed for use by pedestrians 

and any other non-motorized forms of transportation. 

RECREATION TRUST FUND -- An account for money paid in lieu of park dedication to the 

Town for use in the acquisition or development of Town parks and/or recreation areas. 

RESOURCE PROTECTION LAND – The product of multiplying the acres of any given 

Resource by the Factor identified in the Site Capacity Calculation Worksheet. 

RESOURCES – Floodplain(s), Wetland(s), steep slopes over 15%, and Corridor Buffer(s), as 

identified in the Site Capacity Calculation Worksheet. 

RESUBDIVISION -- A change in a map of an approved or filed subdivision plat if such change 

affects any street layout shown on such map or area reserved thereon for public use, or any 

change of lot line. 

RIGHT-OF-WAY(S) -- A right-of-way is synonymous with the terms road, street, highway, and 

avenue and shall denote any such line or route for passage whether public or private or the width 

and length of the strip of land laid out, designated, acquired and/or dedicated for the use of such 

right-of-way. Such width includes the spaces for vehicular travel, sidewalks, edge stone and 

planting spaces, where required. A right-of-way also includes a utility transmission right-of-

way. 

SECRETARY -- Shall refer to the Secretary of the Planning Board and be synonymous with the 

Clerk of the Planning Board. 

SERVICE ROAD -- A road paralleling a dedicated street providing access only to abutting 

properties and connected to such street at each end. 

SIDEWALK -- A way normally parallel to a street, designed for the use by pedestrians and any 

other non-motorized forms of transportation. 

SITE CAPACITY CALCULATION -- A method of determining the maximum number of 

allowable dwelling units the Planning Board may approve on any given site based on zoning 

requirements and natural environmental constraints on the land. 

SITE CAPACITY CALCULATION WORKSHEET – A form adopted by the Town Board 

for use in making a Site Capacity Calculation, completed and submitted by an Applicant in 

connection with an Application, to be approved by the Planning Board. 

STREET -- A vehicular traffic way between right-of-way lines formally dedicated to the public 

use or accepted or maintained by the appropriate governmental or municipal body for public 

use, including highway, road, avenue and lane. 

STREET, DEAD-END -- A street, portion of a street or a system of streets with only one (1) 

vehicular outlet. Any proposed street which intersects only with a dead-end street shall be 

deemed to be an extension of the dead-end street. For the purposes of these Regulations, the 

length of a dead-end street shall be deemed to be the total of all segments of said street or 

system of streets. 

STREET, COLLECTOR -- A street that serves or is designed to serve a neighborhood or as a 

feeder to a major street. 



 

 

9 

STREET, MAJOR -- A street that serves or is designed to serve heavy flows of traffic and 

which is used primarily as a route for traffic between communities and/or other heavy traffic 

generating areas. 

STREET, MINOR -- A street intended to serve primarily as an access to abutting properties. 

STREET PAVEMENT -- The wearing or exposed surface of the roadway used by vehicular 

traffic. 

STREET WIDTH -- The width of right-of-way, measured at right angles to the centerline of the 

street. 

SUBDIVISION -- The division of any parcel of land into two (2) or more lots, blocks or sites, 

whether or not such division creates new streets or extends existing streets and includes 

resubdivision, which shall be classified as: 

SUBDIVISION, MAJOR -- Any proposed subdivision of a parcel of land into six (6) or more 

lots, or any subdivision proposed as a Cluster Development Subdivision. 

SUBDIVISION, CLUSTER DEVELOPMENT -- any proposed subdivision requiring approval 

under the provisions of §278 of New York State Town Law. 

SUBDIVISION, CONVENTIONAL -- proposed major subdivision meeting all the 

requirements of the Zoning Law except where variances are granted by the Board of Appeals. 

SUBDIVISION, MINOR -- Any proposed subdivision of a parcel into five (5) lots or fewer 

which meet the requirements of the Zoning Law. 

TOTAL RESOURCE PROTECTION LAND – The sum of adding all Resource Protection 

Lands, in acres. 

TOWN -- Town of Pittsford, New York, to include improvement districts where the context 

requires. 

TOWN ENGINEER -- The duly designated Engineer of the Town, or if there be no such 

designee, the Engineer assigned to the Planning Board. 

TRAIL -- A path or track for the passage of persons and/or animals. 

TURNAROUND -- Turning circle at the inner end of a dead end street. 

UTILITIES, PRIVATE -- This term shall include telephones, cable television, electric light 

and power, and gas lines, wind and solar power systems, water and sewage systems not owned 

and operated by the Town, whether installed on, above or beneath the surface of the ground. 

UTILITIES, PUBLIC -- This term shall include electric light and power distribution systems, 

sanitary and storm sewer pipes, surface water drains and water pipes, which are owned and 

operated by, or which may become the property or responsibility of, the Town or of a District 

of the Town. 

WETLAND(S) – Land which is characterized by the presence of water and defined as 

wetland(s) under federal, state, or Town law, including any buffer areas around such land as 

designated under federal, state, or Town law.  Wetland(s) also includes water bodies, natural 

or man-made. 

§ 175-6. Abbreviations. 



 

 

10 

For the purposes of these Regulations the following abbreviations shall be used in this text: 

AASHTO -- American Association of State Highway Transportation Officials. 

ANSI -- American Nation Standards Institute. 

ASTM -- American Society of Testing Materials. 

AWWA -- American Waterworks Association. 

DRC -- Development Review Committee of the Town. 

EIS -- Environmental Impact Statement as defined and required by SEQRA. 

DEIS -- Draft Environmental Impact Statement 

EAF -- Environmental Assessment Form 

FEIS -- Final Environmental Impact Statement 

NYSDOT - New York State Department of Transportation. 

ARTICLE III 

General Subdivision Requirements 

§ 175-7. Approved plan required. 

A. No person shall make a subdivision within the meaning of these Regulations of any land within 

the Town, or proceed with the improvement for sale of lots in a subdivision, or the construction 

of ways, or preparation therefore or the installation of utilities and municipal services therein, 

unless and until a Final Plat application of such subdivision has been duly submitted to and 

approved by the Planning Board as hereinafter provided and the endorsement required has 

been placed upon said Plat, and said Plat has been recorded in the office of the Monroe 

County Clerk. 

B. A resubdivision to make a change in a lot to accommodate "as-built plans"; a lot line 

adjustment; or a similar type of accommodation and which does not create a new lot or 

make any lot concerned non-conforming shall not require Planning Board review and may 

be approved administratively. 

§ 175-8. Source of information required. 

In those cases in which the land shown on the plan or plat is abutted by land of an owner not the 

owner of the land as shown, the applicant shall include a statement from the person who prepared 

the plan as to the source or sources of the information about the location of boundaries. 

§ 175-9. Compliance with regulations and waivers. 

A. All applications relating to subdivisions shall conform in all respects to the provisions, 

procedures and substance of these Regulations unless otherwise authorized by the Planning 

Board in writing when, in the judgment of the Planning Board, such action is in the public 

interest, is not inconsistent with the intent of these Regulations, and does not violate state or 

local laws or violate due process. 

B. A request for any such waiver shall be in writing and must be approved by the Planning Board 

as part of its conditions of approval of the subject plat or plan. 



 

 

11 

§ 175-10. Compliance with zoning law. 

The Planning Board shall not approve, nor approve with modifications and/or conditions, any 

application for a proposed subdivision of land unless all buildings, structures and lots shown on said 

plat comply with the Zoning Law of the Town unless a variance from the terms thereof has been 

granted by the Board of Appeals. 

 

§ 175-11. Establishment of standards and requirements for RRAA, SRAA and RRSP 

residential subdivisions. 

The Planning Board is authorized, in its review and approval of residential subdivisions in the 

RRAA, SRAA and RRSP Districts, to establish, in its discretion, lot and bulk requirements that are 

consistent with the development concepts set forth in §185-17 of this chapter. The Planning Board 

is also authorized, in its review and approval of residential subdivisions in the RRAA, SRAA and 

RRSP Districts, to establish, in its discretion, subdivision context and lot requirements that are 

consistent with the development concepts set forth in §185-19 of this chapter. The foregoing 

sentence is not meant to allow the Planning Board to establish the appropriate number of allowable 

lots for residential subdivisions in the either the RRAA, SRAA or RRSP Districts. 

§ 175-12. Referral to Design Review and Historic Preservation Board. 

The Planning Board is authorized, in its discretion, to refer any subdivision application to the 

Design Review and Historic Preservation Board, for its review and advisory comments to the 

Planning Board. 

§ 175-13. Filing fees. 

The filing fee for an application for approval of a proposed subdivision plan or plat shall be paid at 

the time of submission of an application. The filing fee for submission of applications shall be as 

approved by the Town Board in accordance with the current fee schedule and is intended to cover 

the cost of advertising, publication of notices and mailing. 

§ 175-14. Review and inspection fees. 

Expenses incurred by the Town relative to a subdivision proposal shall be borne solely by the 

applicant for items such as engineering, and/or professional planning review, inspection of 

construction, certification of compliances, recording and filing of documents. All such costs shall be 

billed to the applicant and paid prior to endorsement of final approval or disapproval of a plan or 

plat. 

§ 175-15. Recreation trust fund fees. 

Should the Planning Board determine that cash is to be deposited in lieu of land dedications for the 

acquisition and/or development of park, playground and other recreational purposes, the Planning 

Board shall require a cash deposit in accordance with the provisions of §185-125 of this Code. 

§ 175-16. Financial security. 

A. Prior to approval and/or endorsement of any application for approval of a Final Plat or Site Plan, 

the applicant must deliver to the Town financial security, in a form acceptable to the 

Commissioner of Public Works and in an amount not less than the Engineer's estimated cost of 

all improvements shown on the Final Plat or Site Plan, and as approved by the Commissioner of 



 

 

12 

Public Works. 

B. If the proposed subdivision or site improvements are to be developed in stages, the amount of 

the financial security shall be based upon the stage or stages to be approved, except that should 

the Planning Board deem that the Town would be damaged by failure of the applicant to 

proceed on schedule with the further stages, the required financial security may be increased by 

an amount equal to all or part of the construction costs for the remaining phases. 

§ 175-17. Building permit. 

A. No building permit for any permanent building within the subdivision or lot to be developed 

shall be authorized until after the subdivision plat or site plan has received final approval by the 

Planning Board and the plat map has been filed in the office of the Monroe County Clerk and 

Liber and page numbers have been assigned by the County Clerk. 

B. No permits for building will be issued until all outstanding bills for public hearings, required 

tests and review services and other costs are paid in full. 

C. The Building Inspector shall not issue any permit for the erection of a building until he has first 

determined that: 

(1) The lot and the right-of-way furnishing access to the lot as required by these Regulations is 

shown on an approved and recorded Final Plat; 

(2) Any condition endorsed thereon limiting the right to erect or maintain buildings on such lot 

has been satisfied or waived by the Planning Board; and 

(3) The construction and/or installation of the utilities and streets has progressed sufficiently to 

permit ingress and egress to said lot by the necessary construction equipment without 

damage to the required improvements and without impairment of public safety. 

§ 175-18. Certificate of occupancy. 

Where a Certificate of Occupancy is desired for a building in the subdivision prior to the completion 

of all of the improvements shown on the approved construction sheet of the subdivision plat, the 

street serving the building shall be completed to a degree satisfactory to the Commissioner of Public 

Works. In general, the degree of such street improvement shall be adequate for vehicular access by 

the prospective occupant and by police and fire equipment prior to the issuance of a Certificate of 

Occupancy. Where such permit has been issued, the street shall be maintained in suitable condition 

by the subdivider at his expense and liability until such time as it is accepted by the Town. 

ARTICLE IV 

Process and Procedure for Subdivision Submission 

§ 175-19. General process and procedure. 

Any person who wishes to receive approval from the Planning Board for subdivision shall proceed 

in the following manner: 

A. A Conventional Concept Plan shall be submitted for any proposed Major Subdivision. An 

applicant may elect to submit a Conventional Concept Plan for a Minor Subdivision. 

B. A Cluster Development Concept Plan shall be submitted, in addition to a Conventional Concept 

Plan, for any proposed subdivision requiring approval under §278 of New York State Town 



 

 

13 

Law. 

C. A Preliminary Plat shall be submitted for any proposed Major Subdivision that has been 

granted approval or approval with conditions of the required Concept Plan. 

D. A Final Plat shall be submitted for any proposed Major Subdivision that has been granted 

approval or approval with conditions of Preliminary Plan. It shall also be submitted for all 

Minor Subdivisions but is not required to have previous approval. 

§ 175-20. Concept approval process and procedure. 

A. A Conventional Concept Plan application shall be submitted for all proposed Major 

Subdivisions or any Minor Subdivision which any applicant elects to submit, and shall comply 

with the requirements set forth in §175-24 of these Regulations. 

B. A Cluster Development Concept Plan application shall be submitted, in addition to the 

Conventional Concept Plan, for all proposed Major Subdivisions which require approval under 

§278 of New York State Town Law, and shall comply with the requirements set forth in §175-

25 of these Regulations. 

C. The purpose of this step is to afford the applicant an opportunity to consult early and informally 

with the Planning Board in order to save time and money and to make the most of opportunities 

for desirable development. 

D. The applicant shall submit to the Secretary, in accordance with the Planning Board’s approved 

submission schedule, the application, together with the applicable fees and any other 

supporting documentation. 

E. The Secretary shall review the application to ensure completeness prior to officially accepting 

said application. 

(1) If the Secretary determines that the application is substantially complete, or has only minor 

deficiencies, such deficiencies shall be noted on the application forms, fees shall be 

processed and the application shall be placed on the next agenda for concept review as a 

public hearing item. 

(2) If the Secretary determines that the application is not substantially complete, the 

application package shall be returned to the applicant with a list of the deficiencies noted. 

F. The Secretary shall review the application in relation to the thresholds set forth under SEQRA to 

determine the type of action the project is to be classified. 

(1) If any project is determined to be a Type I action, the Secretary shall send notice to all 

involved agencies requesting the Planning Board be named Lead Agency. 

G. Subdividers of land adjoining State or County highways are advised to consult the District 

Engineer of the New York State Department of Transportation or the County Director of Public 

Works at the Concept Plan stage in order to resolve problems of street openings or storm 

water drainage at the earliest possible stage in the design process. However, subdividers 

should be aware that State and County standards are subject to modification at any time and 

submissions will be reviewed on the basis of the standards that are in effect at the time of 

review. 

H. The applicant is strongly advised to meet with representatives of the Town’s Department of 



 

 

14 

Public Works to discuss and review the layout and availability of sanitary and storm sewers 

as well as the proposed method of complying with Chapter 127 of this Code. 

I. The design and construction of drainage systems shall be such that water courses traversing 

the development and natural water emanating from within the development will be carried 

through and off the development without injury to improvements, building sites or buildings 

existing or to be installed upstream, downstream or within the development.  

J. The design and construction of drainage systems shall employ natural drainage patterns in 

preference to re-channeling of streams and/or watercourses.  

K. Drainage requirements shall be based upon the projected ultimate urbanization identified by 

the latest zoning and master plans. 

L. The Planning Board may consult with the Town Supervisor or any other Town boards, 

commissions, departments, agencies, officials and districts they deem advisable or helpful, 

and/or engage professionals to aid in the review process. 

M. The Secretary shall submit a copy of the application to the Environmental Board whose review 

shall include recommendations and findings to the Planning Board as to determination of 

significance. 

N. The Planning Board shall hold a public hearing at which parties in interest shall have an 

opportunity to be heard, which hearing shall take place within the time specified by and upon 

the notice required by state law. 

O. The applicant shall attend the meeting of the Planning Board at which a Concept Plan 

application is to be first reviewed and shall be prepared to discuss compliance with the intent of 

these Regulations and the requirements for street improvements, drainage, sewerage, water 

supply, fire protection, natural features and resources protection and similar aspects, as well as 

the availability of existing services and other pertinent information. 

P. The Planning Board shall study the Concept Plan in relation to existing or potential development 

of the adjacent area, Town and County Comprehensive/Master Plans, Town Zoning Law, the 

Drainage Master Plan, the Sewer Districts Master Plans, and in the course of its review may 

consult with other interested public agencies. 

Q. The Planning Board shall study any Cluster Development Concept Plan in relationship to 

whether it meets the following criteria: 

(1) Promotes the most appropriate use of the land. 

(2) Facilitates the adequate and economic provision of streets and utilities. 

(3) Preserves the natural and scenic qualities of open space. 

(4) Does not exceed the density nor the use allowable in the applicable zoning district. 

(5) Promotes a diversified development, which may include structures that are detached, semi--

detached, attached or multi-story. 

(6) Addresses land for parks, recreation, open space, or other municipal purposes. The Planning 

Board may establish such conditions on the ownership, use and maintenance of such lands 

as it deems necessary to assure the preservation of such lands and for their intended uses. 

R. At the time of a public hearing on a Concept Plan, the Planning Board shall by resolution 



 

 

15 

make a determination as to whether the project may have a significant impact on the 

environment for the purposes of SEQRA. In making such determination, the Planning Board 

shall consider any comments by the Environmental Board, the public and any involved 

agencies. 

S. Following the closing of the public hearing on the application, and within the time specified by 

state law, the Planning Board shall: 

(1) Approve the application if the application is determined to meet all of the requirements of 

these Regulations; 

(2) Conditionally approve the application if the application is determined not to meet all of the 

requirements of these Regulations but, with modification and/or conditions the application 

can be made to meet all of the requirements of these Regulations. The modifications 

and/or conditions to be met shall be set forth in the Resolution of Conditional Approval; or 

(3) Disapprove the application if the Planning Board determines that the application does not 

meet all of the requirements of these Regulations to such a degree that the application 

cannot be made to meet these requirements by modifications and/or conditions. The 

resolution of disapproval shall specify the reasons for disapproval. 

T. The Planning Board shall so endorse four (4) copies of the plan and return to the applicant, one 

(1) copy of the plan or plat together with a copy of the resolution, shall retain one (1) copy, 

and shall forward two (2) copies to the Commissioner of Public Works. 

U. Approval and/or conditional approval of an application for approval of a Concept Plan shall not 

be construed to permit the filing of the plat or plan in the Office of the Monroe County Clerk 

nor the applicant to proceed with any improvements on the land nor shall it prejudice any 

further action by the Planning Board regarding required subsequent applications for approval, 

if submitted, of said subdivision. 

V. In the event that an applicant does not submit a Preliminary Plan within six (6) months of 

the approval or conditional approval of a Concept Plan, such Concept Plan approval may be 

revoked by the Planning Board. 

§ 175-21. Preliminary plat approval process and procedure. 

A. A Preliminary Plan shall be submitted to the Planning Board for all proposed Major 

Subdivisions. If the applicant wishes to develop the subdivision in stages, the applicant may 

prepare and submit a Preliminary Plat for a portion of the area encompassed by the Concept 

Plan, provided that the proposed development phases were indicated on the Concept Plan 

approved by the Planning Board. The Preliminary application shall: 

(1) Comply with any conditions or modifications made by the Planning Board in its approval 

of the Concept Plan. 

(2) Satisfy the requirements for Preliminary Plat applications, as described in §175-26 of these 

Regulations. 

B. The applicant shall submit to the Secretary, in accordance with the Planning Board’s approved 

submission schedule, the application, together with the applicable fees, and any other 

supporting documentation. 

C. The Secretary shall review the application to ensure completeness prior to officially accepting 



 

 

16 

said application. 

(1) If the Secretary determines that the application is substantially complete, or has only 

minor deficiencies, such deficiencies shall be noted on the application forms, fees shall be 

processed and the application shall be placed on the next agenda for Preliminary Approval 

as a public hearing item. 

(2) If the Secretary determines that the application is not substantially complete, the 

application package shall be returned to the applicant with a list of the deficiencies noted. 

D. The Planning Board may consult with the Town Supervisor or any other Town boards, 

commissions, departments, agencies, officials and districts they deem advisable or helpful, 

and/or engage professionals to aid in the review process. 

E. The Secretary shall submit a copy of the application to the Monroe County Department of 

Planning for their review and report, if required. 

F. The Planning Board shall review the application to determine: 

(1) That the application meets all of the requirements of these Regulations, the Zoning Code, 

other applicable Town Codes, official Town Maps, the intent of the Comprehensive Plan, 

Town Master Plans and Design Guidelines of the Town Board, commissions, agencies, 

departments and districts, and all Town requirements and policies regarding streets, street 

frontage, reservation of land, drainage and erosion control and slope stabilization measures, 

storm water drainage, sewage disposal, water supply, fire protection, preservation of 

significant historical, geological or scenic sites, preservation of wetlands, and other 

improvements. 

(2) That the physical characteristics of the land to be subdivided are such that it can be used for 

building purposes without danger to health or peril from fire, flood or other menace. 

(3) That all existing features of the landscape, such as large trees, rock outcroppings, water 

courses, historic resources, and other irreplaceable assets are considered and preserved 

insofar as practical. 

(4) That where any land of a proposed subdivision adjoins State or County highways, that the 

requirements of the District Engineer of the New York State Department of Transportation 

and/or the Monroe County Director of Public Works can be satisfied. 

(5) That where any public utilities are involved, the requirements of the respective agencies 

having jurisdiction can be met. 

(6) That where there are any reservations for highway purposes, the frontage line of all lots in 

the proposed subdivision effected by said reservations are shown with the adjusted lot lines. 

(7) The classification of any streets within the proposed subdivision as Major, Collector, or 

Minor. 

(8) The adequacy of proposed sites for active or passive parkland, open spaces or other 

community facilities. 

(9) What, if any, additional variances, exceptions, waivers, easements and/or covenants are 

necessary on the basis of the further review of the application by the Planning Board, the 

reports submitted, and the public hearing, if any. 



 

 

17 

(10) What, if any, additional modifications or conditions are required for approval of the subject 

application. 

G. The Planning Board shall hold a public hearing at which parties in interest shall have an 

opportunity to be heard, which hearing shall take place within the time specified by and upon 

the notice required by state law. 

H. The applicant shall attend the meeting of the Planning Board at which a Preliminary Plat 

application is to be first reviewed and shall be prepared to discuss how the proposal satisfies 

the intent of these Regulations, the requirements for street improvements, drainage, sewerage, 

water supply, fire protection and similar aspects, as well as the availability of existing services 

and other pertinent information. 

I. Following the closing of the public hearing on the application and within the time specified by 

state law, the Planning Board shall: 

(1) Approve the application if the application is determined to meet all of the requirements of 

these Regulations; 

(2) Conditionally approve the application if the application is determined not to meet all of the 

requirements of these Regulations but, with modifications and/or conditions, the application 

can be made to meet all of the requirements of these Regulations, the modifications and/or 

conditions to be met to be contained in the resolution of conditional approval and to 

become a part of the application; or 

(3) Disapprove the application if the Planning Board determines that the application does not 

meet the requirements of these Regulations to such a degree that the application cannot be 

made to meet these requirements by modifications and/or conditions, the resolution of 

disapproval to contain the reasons therefore. 

J. The Planning Board shall so endorse four (4) copies of the plan and return to the applicant, one 

(1) copy of the plan or plat together with a copy of the resolution; shall retain one (1) copy; and 

shall forward two (2) copies to the Commissioner of Public Works. 

K. Approval and/or conditional approval of an application for approval of a Preliminary Plan 

shall not be construed to permit the filing of the plat or plan in the Office of the Monroe County 

Clerk nor shall the applicant proceed with any improvements on the land nor shall it prejudice 

any further action by the Planning Board regarding required subsequent applications for 

approval, if submitted, of such subdivision. 

L. In the event that an applicant does not submit a Final Plan within six (6) months of the 

approval or conditional approval of a Preliminary Plan, such Preliminary Plan approval may 

be revoked by the Planning Board. 

§ 175-22. Final plat approval process and procedure. 

A. An application for Final Plat approval shall: 

(1) Conform substantially to the Preliminary or Concept Plan that has received approval from 

the Planning Board. It should incorporate any revisions or other features that may have 

been recommended by the Planning Board at the Preliminary Plat or Concept Plan stage, 

and all such compliances shall be clearly indicated by the subdivider on the appropriate 

submission. 



 

 

18 

(2) Shall have secured the necessary approvals for any required variances or for any required 

district extensions. 

(3) Satisfy the requirements for Final Plat layouts as described in §175-27 of these 

Regulations. 

B. The applicant shall submit the application, together with the applicable fees and other 

supporting documentation as follows: 

(1) All major Subdivision Final Plat applications shall be submitted in accordance with the 

Planning Board’s approved Submission Schedule, along with the Final Plat and Plans. 

(2) All Minor Subdivision Final Plat applications shall be submitted in accordance with the 

Planning Board’s approved Submission Schedule, along with the Final Plat and Plans. 

C. The Secretary shall review the application to ensure completeness prior to officially accepting 

said application. 

(1) If the Secretary determines that the application is substantially complete, or has only minor 

deficiencies, such deficiencies be so noted on the application form, fees shall be processed 

and the application shall be placed on the next agenda for final approval as a discussion 

item, unless it is determined that a public hearing would be required. 

(2) If the Secretary determines that the application is not substantially complete, the application 

package shall be returned to the applicant with a list of the deficiencies noted. 

D. The Secretary shall submit a copy or copies of any application for final approval of a Minor 

Subdivision to the Monroe County Department of Planning for their review and report, if 

required. 

E. The Secretary shall submit a copy of any application for approval of a Minor Subdivision Final 

Plat that has not previously received Concept approval to the Environmental Board whose 

review shall include recommendation and findings to the Planning Board as to determination of 

significance. 

F. The Planning Board shall hold a public hearing at which parties in interest shall have an 

opportunity to be heard, which hearing shall take place within the time specified by and upon 

the notice required by state law. 

(1) The Secretary may waive the requirement for a public hearing for any Major Subdivision 

Final Plat that substantially agrees with the Preliminary Plat previously submitted and any 

conditions of approval placed on said Preliminary plans by the Planning Board. 

G. At the time of the public hearing, the Planning Board shall have considered the Minor 

Subdivision Plat in connection with the topography of the area, existing requirement of the 

Zoning Code, the Comprehensive Plan and the Town Official Map. Sewer District Master 

Plans, the Drainage Plan, the general requirements of the Town and shall insure that the 

applicant has secured the necessary approvals and/or permits for the provisions of utility 

services, septic systems and road cuts. 

H. At the time of a public hearing on any Minor Subdivision which has not been previously 

submitted for review and approval of a Concept Plan, the Planning Board shall make a 

determination as to whether the project may have a significant impact on the environment for 

the purposes of SEQRA. In making such determination, the Planning Board shall consider any 



 

 

19 

comments by the Environmental Board, the public and any involved agencies. 

I. Subsequent to the filing of the Final Plat, and after the closing of a public hearing, if required, 

the Planning Board shall, within the time specified by New York State Law: 

(1) Conditionally approve said application if the application is determined to meet all of these 

Regulations, but requires other necessary approvals before final approval can be granted. 

(2) Disapprove said application if the Planning Board determines that the application does not 

meet all of the requirements of these Regulations, the resolution of disapproval to contain 

the reasons therefore. 

J. The Secretary may grant unconditional final approval to any Final Plat that complies with a 

conditional approval previously granted by the Planning Board. In order to be granted such 

unconditional final approval, the applicant shall submit the mylars and one (1) copy of the 

Final Plat and Plans that shall bear all necessary signatures of approval. 

K. Approval of an application: Conditional approval of a Final Plat shall expire one hundred 

eighty (180) days from the date of the Planning Board endorsement of Conditional approval 

thereon unless said Final Plat is filed in the Office of the Monroe County Clerk. The 

Planning Board may extend the foregoing expiration time for periods of ninety (90) days 

each, if, in the Planning Board’s opinion, such extension is warranted by the particular 

circumstances. 

ARTICLE V 

Format and Contents of Applications 

§ 175-23. General format and contents of applications. 

All applications shall be prepared in the following format: 

A. A letter of intent describing the nature and scope of the subdivision and including information 

required but not shown on the Plans, as well as any unique circumstances and status of 

conditions specific to the application. The letter should also include any intent to propose any 

Special Districts, such as Park Districts, Lighting Districts, etc. 

B. The applicant shall submit completed application forms, as required and approved by the 

Planning Board. 

C. The maps, plans and/or drawings contained in an application for approval of a proposed 

subdivision shall be accurately and legibly drawn in accordance with accepted engineering 

practice, fine black line on mylar or other reproducible substance at a suitable scale, and shall be 

clearly designated as to the type of application (Minor, Conventional Concept Plan, Cluster 

Development Concept Plan, Preliminary, or Final). 

D. Sheet sizes shall be a minimum size of eight and one-half inches by eleven inches (8 1/2” X 

11”) and shall not exceed a maximum size of thirty-four inches by forty-four inches (34" x 44"). 

The preferred sheet size is twenty-two inches by thirty-four inches (22” x 34”). 

E. The scale for plats and/or plans shall be fifty feet (50') to one inch (1") or greater except Concept 

Plans which may be submitted at one hundred feet (100') to one inch (1"). 

F. If the application contains more than one (I) page, each page must contain, in the lower right 

hand comer, the subdivision name, the page number and, when applicable, provisions for 



 

 

20 

recording any and all revision dates and space for Planning Board action. In addition, the first 

page shall contain an index located in the upper left-hand corner of the page. 

G. The names and addresses of the record owner of the land and the applicant and the name, seal 

and address of the designer, engineer and/or surveyor who made the plan, shall appear in the 

lower right-hand comer of the plan. 

H. The north arrow shall be oriented either towards the top of the page or the right of the page, 

preferably towards the top. 

I. Any necessary signature or approval lines and/or boxes. 

J. The number of copies of all application materials shall be as required and approved by the 

Planning Board 

§ 175-24. Format and contents of conventional concept plan applications. 

An application for approval of a Conventional Concept Plan shall be prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of §175-23 of these Regulations, clearly marked as a Conventional Concept Plan and 

shall contain, at a minimum, the following: 

A. Application Cover Sheet. 

B. A statement that the applicant has read and understands the intent of the requirements of these 

Regulations and the application for approval of the Conventional Concept Plan of the proposed 

Subdivision is complete, meets both the intent and the requirements of these Regulations and 

that every lot in the subdivision meets the requirements of the Zoning Code for the zoning 

district in which it is located, unless otherwise noted. 

C. A statement that the applicant is the owner, or contract vendee with owner authorization, of all 

of the land comprising the subdivision. 

D. An Environmental Assessment Form, Part I, containing sufficient information in order to meet 

the requirements of SEQRA. 

E. A completed Site Capacity Calculation Worksheet in the form adopted by the Town Board 

and approved by the Planning Board. 

F. Boundaries of the tract to be subdivided, plotted to scale. If the applicant intends to develop 

the tract in stages, the entire tract shall nevertheless be included in the Conventional Concept 

Plan with the stages identified. 

G. Natural Features Map, providing sufficient data to describe the site in its existing condition 

which shall include, at a minimum, the following: 

(1) A topographic survey showing ground contours adjacent to and within the tract to be 

subdivided at intervals of no more than two (2) feet of elevation, based on Town datum 

(United States Coast and Geodetic Survey). 

(2) All pertinent topographic and planimetric features within and adjoining the tract, including 

existing streets, existing buildings, walls, fences, individual or small groups of large trees, 

trails, monuments, rock ridges and outcroppings, historic monuments, distinctive 

geographic features. 

(3) Any portion of the site that includes slopes of fifteen (15) to twenty-five (25) percent, slopes 

greater than twenty-five (25) percent, wetlands, wood lots, water courses and their one 



 

 

21 

hundred year flood limits, and water bodies together with their elevations and date of 

measurement, all shown with the acreage of each portion. 

H. Soils Map, showing type by series name and/or map symbol based on the latest soil survey of 

Monroe County, New York, prepared by the United States Department of Agriculture Natural 

Resources which shall be accompanied by: 

(1) A columnar report based on the table within the aforementioned soil survey entitled 

Estimated Degree and Kind of Limitations for Selected Non-Farm Uses of all soil types by 

series' name and map symbol and their estimated degree and kind of limitation for 

underground public utilities, disposal of septic tank effluent, home sites, and street and 

parking lots. 

(2) Except in the case of applications for a Minor Subdivision, two (2) copies of a transparent 

overlay with differentiating symbols showing any soils with a severe limitation, drawn at the 

same scale and sheet size as the natural features map. 

I. Conventional Concept Plan, providing sufficient data to determine the intended design and 

layout of a proposed Major Subdivision drawn to the same scale and sheet size as the Natural 

Features Map which shall include, as a minimum, the following: 

(1) Identification of the plan by name of the owner of record and location of the land in question 

including the Assessor's tax map number and lot number, north point and date. 

(2) The names of all abutting property owners, as determined from the most recent local tax list, 

unless the applicant shall have more recent knowledge of such abutters. 

(3) The locus of the land shown on the plan, preferably at a scale of one thousand feet (1,000') to 

the inch, with sufficient information to accurately locate the plan, and showing the 

boundaries of the abutting properties. 

(4) Location of any zoning district boundaries that may lie within the locus of the plan. 

(5) All the remaining contiguous land and water areas and frontage of the land in ownership of 

the applicant together with a feasible future street access for any such abutting lands that may 

require access to a public right-of-way through lands shown on the Conventional Concept 

Plan. 

(6) General note indicating the existing zoning district, the applicable area requirements and any 

decisions that will be required by the Zoning Board of Appeals, including, but not limited to, 

variances regarding the lots and/or any buildings thereon. 

(7) General note indicating the project statistics to include total acres of the site, total number of 

lots. 

(8) The boundary lines of the proposed lots, with lot numbers, approximate areas and 

dimensions. 

(9) The names, location and widths of adjacent streets, and of streets approaching or within 

reasonable proximity to the subdivision. 

(10) The existing and proposed lines of streets, right-of-ways, easements, reservations and any 

public or common areas within the subdivision, in a general manner. 

(11) Letter designation in lieu of names of any proposed streets. 



 

 

22 

(12) Schematic indication of proposed system for storm water drainage including site drainage 

patterns, adjacent to existing natural waterways intended to receive drainage effluent, and 

indication as to the need for detention. 

(13) Schematic indication of proposed source of water supply, method of sewage disposal, and 

any other utilities. 

(14) Two (2) copies of a transparent overlay of the Conventional Concept Plan. 

J. Additional Requirements: 

(1) To facilitate review of the Plans by the appropriate authorities, at the time of filing of the 

application, the applicant shall stake the streets at sufficient interval to allow orientation of 

board members for a field walk. 

(2) The applicant shall provide a written statement and plan, if determined appropriate by the 

Town Engineer, indicating how the applicant intends to comply with the Stormwater 

Management and Erosion & Sediment Control requirements outlined in Chapter 127 of this 

Code.  

(3) If, in the opinion of the Planning Board, additional information, such as aerial photographs, 

would aid in the approval process, the applicant shall be notified in writing as to what 

additional information is required and shall furnish same to the Planning Board. 

§ 175-25. Format and contents of cluster development concept plan applications. 

An application for approval of a Cluster Development Concept Plan shall be clearly marked as a 

Cluster Development Concept Plan, and shall contain, at a minimum, the following:  

A. All items identified for a Conventional Concept Plan under §175-24 of these Regulations. 

B. A complete application for permission to subdivide such parcel under the provisions of §278 of 

the Town Law which shall include a detailed statement describing the premise of the Cluster 

Development Concept Plan and shall include a statement as to how the following benefits shall 

accrue to the Town as a result of approval to subdivide under the provision of §278: 

(1) As compared to the Conventional Concept Plan submitted, and in general, how the 

proposed Average Density Concept Plan will promote the best use of the land; 

(2) As compared to the Conventional Concept Plan submitted, how the proposed Cluster 

Development Plan will facilitate the adequate and economic provision of streets and 

utilities; 

(3) How the proposed Cluster Development Concept Plan will preserve the natural and scenic 

qualities of open space and/or historic resources; 

(4) That the proposed density does not exceed the density allowed in the applicable zoning 

district; 

(5) How the proposal addresses lands for parks, recreation, open space, or other municipal 

purposes; 

(6) That no part of the proposal is a change of use allowed in the applicable zoning district. 

C. The Cluster Development Concept Plan Layout, providing sufficient data to determine the 

intended design and layout of a proposed Major Subdivision drawn to the same scale and sheet 



 

 

23 

size as the Natural Features Map and Conventional Concept Plan, which shall include, as a 

minimum, the following: 

(1) General note indicating the area requirements that would apply including, but not limited to, 

lot area, average lot width, front, side and rear setbacks. 

(2) Two (2) copies of a transparent overlay of the Cluster Development Concept Plan. 

D. Unless waived by the Planning Board, the applicant shall also submit a Conventional Concept 

Plan, containing the items set forth in §175-24(I) of these Regulations, so as to demonstrate that 

the proposed Cluster Development would not result in an increase in density over the density 

allowed by a Conventional Concept Plan. 

§ 175-26. Format and contents of preliminary plat applications. 

An application for approval of a Preliminary Plat shall prepared in accordance with the requirements 

of §175-23 of these Regulations, include all maps, drawings, plans and documents of the Concept 

Plan upon which it is based, shall comply with the conditions and/or modifications required in the 

approval for said Concept Plan, shall comply with the design requirements of these Regulations, 

shall be clearly designated as a Preliminary Plat, and in addition shall contain, at a minimum, the 

following: 

A. Application Cover Sheet. 

B. A Subdivision Plat Record Sheet, providing sufficient data to determine the location, direction 

and length of every street and right-of-way, line, lot line, and boundary line, and to establish these 

lines on the ground, which shall include: 

(1) All information required for a Conventional and/or Cluster Development Concept Plan. 

(2) The lengths and bearings of the subdivision plat boundary lines. 

(3) Each lot shall be delineated with lot number, approximate boundary lines to scale, area in 

square feet, frontage on public right-of-ways, and setback lines. 

(4) The lines of existing and proposed rights-of-way within the subdivision and adjoining 

properties which shall include the width, point of curvature, point of tangency, minimum 

radii and minimum tangent distances. 

(5) The lines of existing and proposed streets within the subdivision and adjoining properties 

which shall include pavement lines, gutter lines, radius of cul-de-sacs, and centerline 

stationing. 

(6) The names of existing and proposed streets and/or private drives. 

(7) The lines of existing and proposed sidewalks within the subdivision and adjoining 

properties. 

(8) The lines, widths and purposes of existing and proposed easements and/or reservations 

immediately adjoining and within the subdivision. 

(9) The lines and approximate dimensions and acreage of all property which is offered, or to be 

offered, for dedication for public use, with the purpose indicated thereon, and of all property 

that is proposed to be reserved by deed covenant for the common use of the property owners 

of the subdivision. 



 

 

24 

(10) Location of all permanent monuments properly identified as to whether existing or 

proposed. 

(11) Sealed by a licensed professional engineer and/or a licensed land surveyor as evidence of 

professional responsibility for the preparation of the record sheet. 

(12) Delineation of one-hundred year flood limits of any watercourse who’s said limits extend to 

the land to be subdivided. Such line of demarcation shall have a unique indication and shall 

be clearly labeled "one-hundred year flood limits of (name of watercourse"). 

C. A utility plan sealed by a licensed professional engineer and/or a licensed land surveyor as 

evidence of professional responsibility for the preparation of the utility plan and which shall 

include: 

(1) All items required for the Subdivision Plat Record Sheet; 

(2) Typical cross sections of proposed streets; 

(3) Profiles of proposed streets at suitable vertical scale showing finished grades in relation to 

existing ground elevation where it is required by the Commissioner of Public Works; 

(4) The location, size and material of any existing and proposed storm water or sanitary sewers 

and any storm water or sanitary sewer into which any connection is proposed along with 

distance between manholes, minimum grade, invert elevation, manhole designation and 

center line stationing; 

(5) Profiles of proposed storm water or sanitary sewers at suitable vertical scale showing 

finished grades in relationship to existing ground elevations where it is required by the 

appropriate sewer district; 

(6) Location and size of any water supply and sewage disposal systems, and evidence that such 

provisions meet the standards for approval of the Monroe County Department of Health, and 

the Monroe County Water Authority; 

(7) Plan and typical cross section of proposed sidewalks or public accesses as required; 

(8) Typical lot layout showing curb cuts, lateral connection to all utilities, drainage inlets in 

gutter area, driveways, any other lot improvements; 

(9) A general note indicating brief specifications and/or reference to Town or any other 

standards for all facilities to be constructed or installed within the subdivision; 

(10) Standard details and any special detail or cross sections. 

D. A Grading/Drainage Plan, which shall include: 

(1) A subdivision grading plan referenced to USGS datum showing proposed topography at a 

maximum of one foot (1') contour intervals with grading details to indicate proposed street 

grades, and elevations, building site grades and elevations and drainage patterns throughout 

the subdivision and extended approximately two hundred feet (200’) beyond property 

boundaries; 

(2) Grading calculations sufficient to determine the approximate balance between cut and fill; 

(3) A general note indicating the disposition of topsoil on the site. Such note shall include how 

topsoil will be handled in areas of cut and fill; how topsoil will be stockpiled, if applicable; 



 

 

25 

the minimum amount of topsoil to be redistributed to the site; and that no topsoil may leave 

the site without prior permission from the Commissioner of Public Works; 

(4) Symbols, showing the highest known high water mark of the one hundred (100) year Flood 

Zone, based on Flood Zone Rate Maps or the Town’s Comprehensive Drainage Plan, with 

all benchmarks to be noted and to be based on USGS datum; 

(5) Plan, profiles, typical and special cross sections of proposed detention/retention ponds, 

streams, creeks, and swales; 

(6) A statement concerning the status of the proposed project in relationship to the removal, fill or 

dredge of any bank, meadow or swamp bordering on any inland water; 

(7) The location and species of all existing trees outside of any identified woodlot area with 

trunks over twelve inches (12") in diameter measured four feet (4') above the finished 

ground level and shall clearly indicate which of these shall be preserved; and 

(8) A clear indication of any other site features that are to be retained. 

E. A Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan, in compliance with the provisions of Chapter 127 of 

this Code. 

F. A subdivision development plan shall be submitted for any proposed subdivisions to show any 

other improvements, including Special Districts, such as Park, Lighting or other districts, which 

the Planning Board may require as part of their approval or which the applicant intends to 

accomplish as part of the development of the overall subdivision. For example, this may include 

landscaping details, street trees, entrance signs, walls and planters, street lighting, etc. 

G. If, in the opinion of the Planning Board, additional information, such as aerial photographs, would aid 

in the approval process, the applicant shall be notified in writing as to what additional information is 

required and shall furnish same to the Planning Board. 

§ 175-27. Format and contents of final plat applications. 

An Application for Approval of a Final Plat shall include all maps, drawings, plans and documents 

of the Preliminary Plat and Plans upon which it is based, shall comply with the conditions and/or 

modifications of the resolution of approval of said Preliminary Plat, shall be clearly designated as a 

Final Plat, and in addition shall contain, at a minimum, the following: 

A. Application Cover Sheet. 

B. All necessary data to determine the precise metes and bounds of: 

(1) every proposed subdivision lot line including precise area in square feet; 

(2) any proposed street and/or private drive; 

(3) any proposed easement and/or reservation; and 

(4) any property which is offered, or to be offered, for dedication for public use or for any 

property that is proposed to be reserved by deed covenant for the common use of the 

property owners of the subdivision. 

C. Final profiles, cross sections and details of any proposed street and/or private drive, utilities, 

drainage facilities and any other items which may be required. 

D. Certification of all plans by a licensed professional engineer and/or licensed land surveyor as 



 

 

26 

evidence of professional responsibility for the preparation. 

E. Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan, as required by Chapter 127 of this Code. 

F. Compliance with Monroe County Monumentation Law. 

G. Location of all survey monuments. Before acceptance of the dedication of the proposed streets, 

a certificate by a licensed survey or professional engineer must be place on the Final Plat. 

H. An affidavit from the applicant/developer that the specifications contained herein and of the 

Town for highways, sanitary and storm sewers will be complied with and that a record map of 

construction (as-built map) will be submitted to the Town upon completion of the construction 

at no cost to the Town. 

I. Approved copies of all variances, exception, special district extensions, waivers, permits and/or 

covenants required by the Planning Board and these Regulations, in a form acceptable to the 

Town Attorney. 

J. Proof from the Rochester Gas and Electric Corporation that gas and electric service is available 

for the proposed subdivision. 

K. Payment of all required fees and/or review costs. 

L. Permit(s) from the agency having jurisdiction over road cuts and/or driveway cuts. 

M. Signature of approval on plat and plans from the Town Engineer, Superintendent of Sewers, 

Superintendent of Highways, Monroe County Water Authority, Monroe County Pure Waters 

and Monroe County Health Department. 

N. The declaration of intent by the owner that the fee in and to the proposed streets and of the 

proposed street widenings shall be dedicated by deed of conveyance. 

O. The declaration by the owner that no part of the land proposed to be subdivided for human 

habitation lies under water or is subject to flood. 

P. The declaration by the owner that, at the owner’s expense, the required improvements in 

accordance with applicable state law will be installed. 

Q. Verification of the creation and/or extension of any applicable Special Districts. 

R. Duly executed easements. 

S. Duly executed offer of dedication of any proposed public streets. 

T. Duly executed offer of dedication of any lands proposed to be conveyed to the Town. 

U. Warranty Deed and related recording documents for any lands to be conveyed to the Town, 

including Highway Rights of Way. 

V. Letter of Credit or alternative financial guarantee, in an amount equal to one hundred percent 

(100%) of the total cost of the proposed construction furnished by the developer to the Town to 

be kept in effect until such time as the project is accepted by the Town. 

W. An affidavit that the developer will furnish any required financial security. 

X. Three (3) completed applications for approval of plat. 

ARTICLE VI 



 

 

27 

Inspection and Construction Requirements 

§ 175-28. Pre-construction meeting required. 

A. No work shall commence with regard to any portion of the improvement of a subdivision until 

after the subdivision plat has received final approval and until such time as a pre-construction 

meeting has taken place. 

B. It shall be the responsibility of the developer to schedule the pre-construction meeting at a time 

and place convenient to all parties that will be involved in the construction, inspection and 

approval of the improvements within the subdivisions. 

§ 175-29. Inspections. 

A. Inspections shall be arranged by the developer with the Department of Public Works or their 

agents for that purpose prior to the construction of street and the installation of utilities and 

during construction at each significant construction stage. 

B. Inspection shall be requested of the Department of Public Works or its agent at least forty-

eight (48) hours in advance of any stage of the construction and as indicated below: 

(1) All required improvements shall be inspected by the Commissioner of Public Works or his 

agent to ensure satisfactory completion. 

(2) The developer shall supply the Commissioner of Public Works with a schedule of 

construction indicating the anticipated beginning and completion dates of each of the 

following phases or work: 

(a) Grading. 

(b) Installation of erosion/sedimentation control. 

(c) Installation of utilities. 

(d) Installation of drainage improvements. 

(e) Grading of road sub-base. 

(f) Installation of gutters and stone in road base. 

(g) Installation of any roadway pavement. 

(h) Other improvements as shown on the final plans. 

(3) The Commissioner of Public Works may establish the order of the required inspections and 

may require satisfactory completion of one (1) step before the developer proceeds to the next. 

It may require tests to be done by the developer, at the developer’s expense, as a condition for 

approval when, in the opinion of the Commissioner of Public Works, it is advisable. 

(4) The developer shall notify the Commissioner of Public Works at least five (5) days prior to the 

completion of each of the above phases of construction. 

(5) Construction testing of roadway pavement materials shall be performed in accordance with the 

requirements of the road and drainage standards for the Town. 

(6) A final inspection of all improvements shall be made by the Commissioner of Public Works, 

or an agent on behalf of the Commissioner, to determine whether the work is satisfactory and 



 

 

28 

in substantial agreement with the approved final plat drawings, design standards of these 

Regulations and the improvement specifications. The general condition of the site shall also be 

considered. If erosion conditions exist or it appears likely that a hazardous condition may 

arise, the Commissioner of Public Works may require special measures be taken by the sub-

divider. 

C. It shall be the responsibility of the developer to see that all the required forms are properly filled 

out, properly signed and returned to the Commissioner of Public Works subsequent to each 

inspection. 

D. Failure to comply with the inspection procedure may necessitate removal of improvements at the 

expense of the developer. 

§ 175-30. Record Drawings. 

A. As built record drawings for storm and sanitary sewer facilities shall be provided to the 

Commissioner of Public Works by the design engineer, no later than 90 days after the 

completion of the facilities and shall be included in the applicant’s financial guarantee.  Said 

record drawings shall include utility plans; indicating storm and sanitary sewer locations, rim 

elevations, inverts, pipe lengths, associated pipe slopes, and lateral locations, as well as grading 

plans; that demonstrate control structures, critical elevations and general topography within 

proposed Stormwater Management Facilities that are sufficient to verify the project’s design 

intent. 

§ 175-31. Monumentation. 

A. Monuments are required for the acceptance of dedicated highways and for dedicated land. 

Monument record maps shall be submitted to the Commissioner of Public Works and shall be 

included in the applicant’s financial guarantee. 

ARTICLE VII 

Enforcement 

§ 175-32. Violations and penalties. 

A. Where a violation of these Regulations has been committed or shall exist, the owner of the real 

property where such violation has been committed or shall exist, any contract vendee of such 

owner who shall knowingly participate in such violation, any grantee of such owner who shall 

knowingly participate in such violation and any agent who shall have executed a subdivision 

application on behalf of such owner or such contract vendee with respect to such real property 

and who shall knowingly participate in such violation shall be guilty of a violation of these 

Regulations. 

B. Where a violation of any provision or condition of any resolution or approval of the Planning 

Board relating to a subdivision has been committed or shall exist, the owner of the real 

property where such violation has been committed or shall exist, any contract vendee of such 

owner who shall knowingly participate in such violation, any grantee of such owner who shall 

knowingly participate in such violation and any agent who shall have executed an application on 

behalf of such owner or such contract vendee with respect to such real property and who shall 

knowingly participate in such violation shall be guilty of a violation of these Regulations. 

C. Any person who shall perform physical work on real property, including but not limited to 



 

 

29 

clearing of land, other site preparation, and/or construction of improvements in violation of 

these Regulations or in violation of any provision or condition of approval of the Planning 

Board, shall be guilty of a violation of these Regulations. 

D. A violation of these Regulations shall be punishable by a fine not exceeding three hundred fifty 

dollars ($350.00). Each violation shall constitute a separate offense. Each week's continued 

violation shall constitute a separate additional violation. 

§ 175-33. Methods of enforcement. 

The provisions of these Regulations may be enforced by any method or remedy provided by law. In 

addition to other remedies provided by law, any appropriate action or proceeding may be instituted 

to prevent, restrain, correct or abate any violation of these Regulations. 

 

Sec. 4  Exemption_______ 

 The provisions of this Local Law shall not apply to any residential development project 

which has received concept or preliminary approval by the Planning Board as of the date of 

adoption by the Town Board. 

 

Sec. 5    Severability________ 

 If any clause, sentence, phrase, paragraph or any part of this Local Law shall for any 

reason be adjudicated finally by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such judgment 

shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder of this Local law, but shall be confined in its 

operation and effect to the clause, sentence, phrase, paragraph or part thereof, directly involved 

in the controversy or action in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby 

declared to be the legislative intent that the remainder of this Local Law would have been 

adopted had any such provision been excluded. 

 

Sec. 6   Effective Date_____ 

This Local Law shall take effect on its adoption and filing with the Secretary of State. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

30 

 



 

 1 

At a Regular Meeting of the Town Board 
of the Town of Pittsford, New York held at 
the Town Hall, Pittsford, New York, on the 
21st day of April, 2020. 

 
PRESENT: William A. Smith, Jr., Supervisor 

Katherine Bohne Munzinger, Deputy Supervisor 
Kevin S. Beckford, Councilmember 
Cathleen A. Koshykar, Councilmember 
Stephanie Townsend, Councilmember 

 
ABSENT:  None 
____________________________________________________ 
 
  In the Matter 
 
   of 
 
THE ADOPTION OF PROPOSED LOCAL LAW NO.3  
of 2020: AMENDING CHAPTER 185 “ZONING,” ARTICLE VIII, 
THE “RRAA RURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT”; AND AMENDING 
CHAPTER 175 “SUBDIVISION OF LAND,” INCLUDING REVISING 
AND ADOPTING THE “SITE CAPACITY CALCULATION WORKSHEET” 
TO BE APPENDED THERETO 
____________________________________________________ 

 

Resolution to Set Public Hearing 
 

WHEREAS, true and correct copies of proposed Local Law No. 3 of 2020 were 

delivered to each member of the Town Board; and 

WHEREAS, due consideration has been given to the adoption of said proposed 

Local Law No. 3 of 2020, by all members of the Town Board who were present; and 

WHEREAS, it was the considered opinion of all members of the Town Board who 

were present that a public hearing should be held on the 26th day of May 2020, at 6:00 

p.m. at the Town Hall, 11 South Main Street, Pittsford, New York, to consider the adoption 

of said proposed Local Law No. 3 of 2020; 

NOW, on motion duly made and seconded, it was 

RESOLVED, that a public hearing be held on the 26th day of May, 2020, at 6:00 

P.M., Local Time, at the Town Hall, 11 South Main Street, Pittsford, New York, or by 

electronic conference or meeting as permitted by law,  on the question of the adoption of 



 

 2 

said proposed Local Law No. 3 of 2020; and be it further 

RESOLVED, that a Notice of Hearing and a copy of said proposed Local Law 3 of 

2020, or a summary thereof, be published in a newspaper previously designated as an 

official newspaper for publication of public notices, not less than five (5) days prior to said 

hearing; and be it further 

RESOLVED, that the Town Clerk shall post certified copies of both this resolution 

and said proposed Local Law No. 3 of 2020, or a summary thereof, on the Town website 

www.townofpittsford.org, and on the bulletin board maintained by the Town Clerk pursuant 

to § 40(6) of the Town Law, for a period of not less than five (5) days prior to said public 

hearing. 

Said matter having been put to a vote, the following votes were recorded: 

William A. Smith, Jr.  VOTING 

Katherine Bohne Munzinger VOTING 

Kevin S. Beckford   VOTING 

Cathleen A. Koshykar  VOTING 

Stephanie Townsend  VOTING 

The resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted. 

DATED: April 21, 2020 

 
_______________________________________ 
            Linda M. Dillon, Town Clerk 
 

 
I, LINDA M. DILLON, Clerk of the Town Board of the Town of Pittsford, New York, 

DO HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared a copy of the resolution as herein specified 

with the original in the minutes of the meeting of the Town Board of the Town of Pittsford 

and that the same is a correct transcript thereof and the whole of the said original. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this ___ day of April, 2020. 

 
______________________________________ 
            Linda M. Dillon, Town Clerk 

 

http://www.townofpittsford.org/


 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, that a public hearing will be held by the Town 

Board of the Town of Pittsford, New York, at the Town Hall, 11 South Main 

Street, Pittsford, New York, or by electronic conference or meeting as permitted 

by law, on the 26th day of May, 2020, at 6:00 o’clock P.M., Local Time, on the 

proposed adoption of Local Law No. 3 of 2020 that would amend provisions of 

the Town Code concerning the RRAA Rural Residential District and the 

Subdivision of Land. The specific language contained in proposed Local Law No. 

3 of 2020 is available for review in the Town Clerk’s Office.   

 The aforesaid public hearing has been directed to be held pursuant to a 

Resolution of the Town Board of the Town of Pittsford, New York, duly adopted 

at a meeting of said Board on the 21st day of April, 2020. 

 

Dated: April ___, 2020     Linda M. Dillon  
Town Clerk 

                                                                    Town of Pittsford  
                                                                              
                                                                                       



Resolution No.    

Provide Direct COVID-19 Related Federal Aid to All Municipalities 

WHEREAS, the federal government recently enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 

Economic Security (CARES) Act to address the economic fallout from the coronavirus 

pandemic in the United States; and 

WHEREAS, Section 601 of the CARES Act (P.L. 116-136) provides a $150 billion fund for 

states, tribal governments, and units of local government with a population in excess of 

500,000 people; and 

WHEREAS, less than one-half of 1 percent of municipalities in the entire United States meet 

this population threshold and are thus ineligible to receive direct funding from the federal 

government; and 

WHEREAS, of the 933 towns in New York, 931 are not eligible for direct federal funding 

under the CARES Act, including the Town of Pittsford ; and 

WHEREAS, towns provide essential services to the 9 million New Yorkers town residents, 

including, but not limited to, ambulance, police and fire protection services, building and code 

enforcement, and highway maintenance, and have continued to do so throughout the ongoing 

health crisis; and 

WHEREAS, the coronavirus pandemic has created significant financial stress for local 

governments in New York as an estimated $2 billion in sales tax revenue has been lost, as well 

as other sources of revenue such as permit fees, justice court fines, and mortgage recording 

tax; and 

WHEREAS, the depletion of different revenue sources for local governments, combined with 

lack of funding, will result in reducing essential services or shifting the cost onto real property 

taxpayers, many of whom are experiencing their own financial stress; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT 

RESOLVED, that the Town of Pittsford, NY calls upon United States Congressional 

Representative Joseph Morelle, Senator Charles Schumer, and Senator Kirsten 

Gillibrand, to support federal funding related to the coronavirus pandemic that is 

directly delivered to all municipalities, regardless of population size. 


	01 Agenda 4-21-20
	01a Revised Instructions-04212020
	01a Town Board Financial Presentation
	02  04 07 20 T Bd min
	04 April 21st Transfers
	04a Accounts Payable
	04b April surplus res
	04d Expense Report
	04e Revenue Report
	04f Additional Accounts Payable Listing
	04g Prepaid Accounts Payable Listing
	05  04.21.2020 RESOLUTION for hiring
	06 Hearing memo LL#3 0f 2020
	06a DD Local Law #3 of 2020
	06c Hearing Resolution LL#3 of 2020_
	06d  Notice of Hearing LL#3 of 2020
	07 Resolution CARES Act funding



